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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR
THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS
HOUSTON DIVISION

Candace Louise Curtis
Rik Wayne Munson
Private Attorneys General Plaintiffs
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Jason Ostrom
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Jill Willard Young
Christine Riddle Butts
Clarinda Comstock
Toni Biamonte
Bobbie Bayless
Anita Brunsting
Amy Brunsting
Does 1-99

Defendants in their individual capacities

David J. Gradics, Cleri G udhi

Demand for Jury Trial

VERIFIED COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES

18 U.S.C. §1962 (c) Violations of the Racketeer Influenced Corrupt Organization Act
involving multiple predicate acts that include both spoke and hub, and chain conspiracies.
18 U.S.C. §1962 (d) Conspiracy to violate 18 U.S.C. §1962 (c)

42 U.S.C. §1983 Substantive Due Process State Actor Conspiracy Against Civil Rights;
42 U.S.C. §1985 Conspiracy to Deny Equal Protection of Law;

18 U.S.C. §242 Conspiracy to deprive plaintiff of impartial forum;

Breach of Fiduciary to the Public Trust;

In Concert Aiding and Abetting Breach of Fiduciary both Public and Private;

In Concert Aiding and Abetting Misapplication of Fiduciary; and,

The right of claims provided at 42 U.S.C, §1988(a), 18 U.S.C. §1964 (c) and Rule 10b-5
Securities Exchange act of 1934 (17 C.F.R. §240.10b-5) and the right of private claims
implied therefrom.

(—
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This lawsuit raises concerns affecting the public interest
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Maclntyre, McCulluch, Stanfied & Young LLP

51, The Maclntyre, McCulluch, Stanfied & Young L.L.P Law firm constituted an
"enterprise," as defined in Title 18, United States Code, Section 1961(4) a legal entity associated
with Harris County Probate Court, an enterprise engaged in, and the activities of which affected
interstate and foreign commerce,

52.  Defendant Jill Willard Young was employed by or associated with the MacIntyre,
McCulluch, Stanfied & Young LLP law firm.

V. Enterprise in Fact Association

53.  Plaintiffs incorporate by reference herein all allegations set forth above and
below, and by this reference incorporate the same herein and makes each a part hereof as though
fully set forth.

54.  Atall times material to this complaint:

55. Defendants Candace Kuntz-Freed, Albert Vacek Jr., Neal Spielman, Bradley
Featherston, Stephen A. Mendel, Darlene Payne Smith, Jason Ostrom, Gregory Lester, Jill
Willard Young, and Bobbie Bayless, were attorneys and officers of the Court practicing in the
Harris County Probate Court, a legal entity, which was engaged in, and the activities of which
affected interstate and foreign commerce in the Southern District of Texas and elsewhere within
the Jurisdiction of the Court and were thus state actors within the meaning of 42 U.S.C. §1983
and 18 U.S.C. §1951, liable in their individual capacities.

56. At various times material to this complaint Defendants Candace Kuntz-Freed,
Albert Vacek Jr., Neal Spielman, Bradley Featherston, Stephen A. Mendel, Darlene Payne
Smith, Jason Ostrom, Gregory Lester, Jill Willard Young, Christine Riddle Butts, Clarinda

Comstock, and Bobbie Bayless, were persons associated together in fact for the common purpose
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of carrying out an ongoing criminal enterprise, as described in this Complaint; namely, through a
multi-faceted campaign of lies, fraud, threats and official corruption in furtherance of a
conspiracy involving a pattern of racketeering activity, constituting various "enterprise in fact
associations" as defined in Title 18 United States Code Section 1961(4), which engaged in, and
the activities of which affected interstate and foreign commerce. (See Boyle v. United States,
129 S. Ct. 2237, (2009)).

Harris County Tomb Raiders a.k.a. The Probate Mafia

57.  Atall times material to this complaint the “Harris County Tomb Raiders” (HCTR)
was a secret society of persons, both known and unknown to Plaintiffs, associated together in
fact for the common purpose of carrying out an ongoing criminal theft enterprise, as described in
this Complaint; namely, through a multi-faceted campaign of lies, fraud, threats, and official
corruption in furtherance of a conspiracy involving a pattern of racketeering activity as
hereinafter more fully appears,

58.  All Public Actor Defendants are believed to be regular participants in this secret

society.

CLAIM 2
The Racketeering Conspiracy 18 U.S.C, 1962(C)

59.  From various unknown dates, and continuing thereafter up to and including July
2008, and continuing thereafter up to and including March 9, 2016 and continuing thereafter, in
the Southern District of Texas and elsewhere within the jurisdiction of the Court, the Defendants:

Candace Kuntz-Freed, Albert Vacek Jr., Bernard Lyle Mathews III, Neal Spielman, Bradley

Featherston, Stephen A. Mendel, Darlene Payne Smith, Jason Ostrom, Gregory Lester, Jill

Willard Young, Christine Riddle Butts, Clarinda Comstock, Toni Biamonte, Bobbie Bayless,

Anita Brunsting, and Amy Brunsting, together with others known and unknown to Plaintiffs,
14
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Harris County Probate Court, an enterprise, which engaged in, and the activities of which
affected interstate and foreign commerce, to judicially kidnap and rob the elderly, our most
vulnerable citizens, of their freedom, dignity, fundamental human and civil rights and property
accumulated throughout a lifetime, often also robbing heirs and beneficiaries of familial relations

and inheritance expectancies.

72. It was part of the racketeering conspiracy that Defendants would commit

violations of constitutionally protected rights under the disguise of a statutory scheme.

73. It was understood that each conspirator would participate in the commission of at
least two acts of racketeering activity in the conduct of the affairs of the enterprise, as part of the

racketeering conspiracy.

74. It was also a part of the racketeering conspiracy that Defendants, acting in
concert, both individually and severally, would and did promote, conceal, and otherwise protect
the purposes of the racketeering activity from possible criminal investigation and prosecution as

hereinafter more fully appears.

VI. Purposes of the Racketeering Activity

75.  Plaintiffs incorporate by reference herein all allegations set forth above and
below, and by this reference incorporate the same herein and makes each a part hereof as though

fully set forth and alleges that:

76.  From an unknown date and continuing thereafter up to and including the specific
events complained of herein, these Defendants, in concert with persons both known and
unknown to Plaintiffs, individually and severally, conspired to participate and did participate in

an organized criminal consortium for the purpose of actively redirecting trust, estate and other
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third party property into the state probate courts, where Defendants operate to convert third party

property to their own unjust self-enrichment.

77. Tt was a purpose of the racketeering activity that Defendants, acting in concert,
both individually and severally, would and did loot assets held by private trusts and estates
against the will of the victims, family members, and friends, through the use of guardianship

protection statutes and other schemes.

78. It was a purpose for the racketeering activity that trust and estate plan attorneys
acting in concert with other attorneys and with persons both known and unknown to Plaintiffs,
would and did exploit the elders of our society for the purpose of syphoning off the assets of our
eldest and most vulnerable citizens through the aforementioned schemes and artifices, as

exemplified herein and elsewhere in the public domain and as hereinafter more fully appears.

79.  The purpose for the racketeering activity was to facilitate the looting of wealth,

also known as Involuntary Redistribution of Assets (IRA) from its rightful owners, for the

unjust enrichment of attorneys and other legal professionals operating out of state probate courts,
including but not limited to Harris County Probate Court No. 4 and these co-conspirator

Defendants.

80.  The specific quid pro quo method of profit sharing is unknown to Plaintiffs but
appears to include political aspiration, judicial favors, campaign contributions, bribes and

kickbacks, cronyism and “Good Ole Boy” networking.

81.  The conclusion that there is a reciprocal stream-of-benefits necessarily flows from

the facts of the in-concert illegal activities of the co-conspirators, as exemplified herein.
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82.  Based upon personal knowledge and upon information and belief Plaintiffs allege

that;

83.  The above enumerated “RICO Defendants” unlawfully, knowingly and willfully
combined, conspired, confederated and agreed together and with others to violate 18 U.S.C.

§1962(c) as described herein, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1962(d).

84.  Upon information and belief, Each RICO Defendant knew about and agreed to
facilitate the Enterprise's scheme to obtain property from Plaintiff and others, and to participate,
directly or indirectly, in the conduct, management, or operation of the Enterprise's affairs

through a pattern of racketeering activity in violation of 18 U.S.C. §1962(c).

85.  The RICO Defendants knew that they were engaged in a conspiracy to commit
the predicate acts, and they knew that the predicate acts were part of such racketeering activity,
and that the participation and agreement of each of them was necessary to allow the commission
of this pattern of racketeering activity. This conduct constitutes a conspiracy to violate 18 U.S.C.

§ 1962(c), in violation of 18 U.S.C. §1962(d).

86.  Each of the above named RICO Defendants conducted or participated, directly or
indirectly, in the conduct, management, or operation of the Enterprise's affairs through a "pattern
of racketeering activity" within the meaning of 18 U.S.C. § 1961 (5) and in violation of 18

U.S.C. § 1962(c) & (d), to wit:

Commercial Purpose
87.  The constituent members comprising each ENTERPRISE are engaged in a
concerted campaign to extort, defraud, trick, deceive and corruptly persuade their client victims

(probate court litigants) to exercise proprietary control over, and extract maximum value from,

21



Case 4:12-cv-00592 Document 131-7 Filed on 08/13/20 in TXSD Page 7 of 8

Case 4:16-cv-01969 Document 1 Filed in TXSD on 07/05/16 Page 22 of 62

the target trust and/or estate, in much the same way a bankruptcy trustee operates to control a

bankruptcy estate.

88.  Further, in unfairly protecting their commercial purposes, each ENTERPRISE
operative works with the others to harass, threaten, abuse, denigrate, impugn, threaten, and

intimidate litigants, competitors, critics, reformers, and others.

89.  The various ENTERPRISES operate as a “cabal”, a semi-private, sometimes
secret, informal affiliation of entities with public presence and identity that is wholly or partially

inaccurate and misleading as to the true goals, affiliations, and processes of the cabal.

90.  The ENTERPRISES achieve their respective purposes by collusion among
operators and affiliates, who in their COMMERCIAL SPEECH represent to their clients that the
relationships among the members are in compliance with legal and ethical PROFESSIONAL

DUTIES when they, in fact, are not.

91.  Funded by fraudulent exploitation of the parties, ENTERPRISE operators and
affiliates engage in bribery, exchanging value, emoluments, patronage, nepotism, and/or
kickback schemes within their networks to assure system-wide “cash flow” and continued

viability and vitality of the ENTERPRISES.

92. ENTERPRISES refuse such cooperation with non-affiliates, thereby baring
potential competitors. These bars include fraudulently manipulated referrals, representations,
certifications, nepotism, illegal antitrust tactics, and manufactured pitfalls to support the

pervasive “who you know” method the cabal uses in defiance of the rule of law.

93.  Probate Mafia operators, like the attorney Defendants here, regularly breach one

or more of their PROFESSIONAL DUTIES of loyalty, zealous advocacy, fiduciary
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responsibility, and professional competence through one or more “false flag” frauds to induce,
deprive, or deceive clients and other litigants not schooled in the law. These “False Flag”
maneuvers involve one or more COMMERCIAL SPEECH misrepresentations to unsophisticated
layperson parties, thereby depriving them of the benefits of legitimate legal professional services

and perpetrating fraud upon the Court.

94.  Probate Mafia operatives have developed numerous pernicious tools to maximize
their benefits from the wealth redistribution. A prominent artifice is the “independent” appointee

that appears in virtually every case.

95.  Probate Mafia schemes and artifices also include such practices as Poser
Advocacy. “Poser Advocacy” is the practice and sale of what appears to be the practice of law to
inexperienced parties. Attorneys engaging in poser advocacy act to appeal to their client’s
emotions, greed, or other untoward ends to generate fees, with no beneficial legal work

performed.

96.  Poser Advocates write angry letters, exchange worthless formwork discovery, and
repeatedly file baseless amendments and motions with no hope of productive benefit, for the sole

purpose of generating a bill.

97.  In the more sophisticated commercial legal marketplace poser advocacy is not

tolerated, as clients insist upon, and attorneys abide by, legitimate practice and ethical standards.

98.  Because of the unique nature of the clients and market, Probate Mafia members

like these are generally able to pass off Poser Advocacy as if it was real legal work. It is not.

99.  In the Probate Mafia enterprise scheme of things the familial wealth hijacker

represents an exploitation opportunity and, as such, receives special attention.
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